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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

Board of Commissioners 
Waterworks District No. 7 of Wards 6 and 4 
Calcasieu Parish, Louisiana 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinions 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Waterworks District 7 of Wards 6 and 4 of 
Calcasieu Parish, Louisiana, cornponent unit of Calcasieu Parish Police Jury, as of and for the year ended 
September 30, 2024 and 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively 
comprise Watenvorks District 7 of Wards 6 and 4 of Calcasieu Parish, Louisiana, cornponent unit of 
Calcasieu Parish Police Jury's basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of Watenvorks District 7 of Wards 6 and 4 of Calcasieu Parish, Louisiana, 
component unit of Calcasieu Parish Police Jury, as of September 30, 2024 and 2023, and the respective 
changes in financial position, and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinions 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Cornptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are required to be independent of Watenvorks District 7 of Wards 6 and 4 of Calcasieu Parish, 
Louisiana, cornponent unit of Calcasieu Parish Police Jury, and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in 
accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the 
design, irnplernentation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 



In preparing the financial statements, inanagement is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or 
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about Watenvorks District 7 of Wards 6 
and 4 of Calcasieu Parish, Louisiana, cornponent unit of Calcasieu Parish Police Jury's ability to continue 
as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known 
information that rnay raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 

Auditor's Responsibilities jOr the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that 
includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and 
therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing 
standards and Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstaternent when it exists. 
The risk of not detecting a rnaterial misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of intenial control. Misstaternents are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, 
individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment rnade by a reasonable user based on 
the financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government 
Auditing Standards, we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

• Identify and assess the risks of material rnisstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, and design and perfonn audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such 
procedures include exarnining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the ainounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of Waterworks District 7 of Wards 6 and 4 of Calcasieu Parish, 
Louisiana, component unit of Calcasieu Parish Police Jury's internal control. Accordingly, no such 
opinion is expressed. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estirnates made by rnanaernent, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 
that raise substantial doubt about Watenvorks District 7 of Wards 6 and 4 of Calcasieu Parish, 
Louisiana, cornponent unit of Calcasieu Parish Police Jury's ability to continue as a going concern 
for a reasonable period of time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other rnatters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, sinificant audit findings, and certain internal control-related 
matters that we identified during the audit. 



Required Supplementary Infirmation 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's 
discussion and analysis on pages 5 through 8, Schedule of District's Proportionate Share of Net Pension 
Liability on page 45, Schedule of District's Contributions on page 46, and Schedule of Changes in Total 
OPEB Liability and related ratios on page 47 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. 
Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial 
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an 
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required 
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the inforniation 
and cornparing the inforrnation for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic 
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. 
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the inforrnation because the limited procedures 
do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Supplementary Infarmation 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial staternents that collectively 
comprise Watenvorks District 7 of Wards 6 and 4 of Calcasieu Parish, Louisiana, component unit of 
Calcasieu Parish Police Jury's basic financial statements. The accompanying schedule of compensation, 
benefits and other payments to agency head or chief executive officer is presented for purposes of 
additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. The schedule of 
expenditures of federal awards, as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, 
Unifbrrn Administrative Requirements, Cosi Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, are 
presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. 
Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information 
has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and 
certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial staternents or to the basic 
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the schedule of compensation, 
benefits and other payments to agency head or chief executive officer and the schedule of expenditures of 
federal awards are fairly stated, in all niaterial respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a 
whole. 



Other Reportiug Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated March 21, 
2025, on our consideration of Waterworks District 7 of Wards 6 and 4 of Calcasieu Parish, Louisiana, 
component unit of Calcasieu Parish Police Jury's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests 
of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other 
matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the 
effectiveness Waterworks District 7 of Wards 6 and 4 of Calcasieu Parish, Louisiana, component wiit of 
Calcasieu Parish Police Jury's internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an 
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering 
Waterworks District 7 of Wards 6 and 4 of Calcasieu Parish, Louisiana, component unit of Calcasieu Parish 
Police Jury's internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

Steve[A, M. leRI)IA.e1A, AssocIstes, LLC, 

Lake Charles, Louisiana 
March 21, 2025 
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WATERWORKS DISTRICT NO. 7 OF WARDS 6 AND 4 
CALCASIEU PARISH, LOUISIANA, A COMPONENT UNIT OF 

THE CALCASIEU PARISH POLICE JURY 
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2024 

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

The Management's Discussion and Analysis of the Waterworks District No. 7 of Wards 6 and 4, 
Calcasieu Parish, Louisiana's (the District) financial performance presents a narrative overview and 
analysis of the District's fmancial activities for the year ended September 30, 2024. This document 
focuses on the current year's activities, resulting changes, and currently known facts in comparison with 
the prior year's information. Please read this document in conjunction with the additional information 
contained in the fmancial statements. 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 

The District's assets exceeded its liabilities at the close of fiscal year 2024 by $5,685,147 which 
represents a 3.1% increase from last fiscal year. Of this amount, $2,918,988 (unrestricted net position) 
may be used to meet the District's ongoing obligations to its users. 

The District's operating revenue decreased $11,681 (or 2.5%), operating expenses decreased $52,492 (or 
6.0%) and the net results from operating activities was a loss from operations of $367,766. 

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The following graphic illustrates the minirnum requirements for Special Purpose Governments Engaged 
in Business-Type Activities established by Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement 34, 
Basic Financial Statements—and Management's Discussion and Analysis—for State and Local 
Governments. 

Mir WI 
Management's Discussion and Analysis 

4-

 

 Mr 

Basic Financial Statements 
 

These financial statements consist of two sections - Management's Discussion and Analysis (this section) 
and the basic financial statements (including the notes to the financial statements). 
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WATERWORKS DISTRICT NO. 7 OF WARDS 6 AND 4 
CALCASIEU PARISH, LOUISIANA, A COMPONENT UNIT OF 

THE CALCASIEU PARISH POLICE JURY 
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2024 

Basic Financial Statements 

The basic financial statements present information for the District as a whole, in a format designed to 
make the statements easier for the reader to understand. The statements in this section include the 
Statement of Net Position; the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position; and the 
Statement of Cash Flows. 

The Statement of Net Position (pages 9 - 10) presents the current and long-term portions of assets and 
liabilities separately. The difference between total assets and total liabilities is net position and may 
provide a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the District is improving or deteriorating. 

The Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position (page 11 - 12) presents information 
showing how the District's assets changed as a result of current year operations. Regardless of when cash 
is affected, all changes in net position are reported when the underlying transactions occur. As a result, 
there are transactions included that will not affect cash until future fiscal periods. 

The Cash Flow Statement (pages 13 - 14) presents information showing how the District's cash changed 
as a result of current year operations. The cash flow statement is prepared using the direct method and 
includes the reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash provided (used) by operating activities 
(indirect method) as required by GASB 34. 

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE ENTITY 

     

2024 2023 2022 
Current, other assets and deferred outflows $ 3,439,730 $ 3,164,729 $ 2,987,908 
Capital assets 2,766,159 1,655,380 1,719,475 

Total assets and deferred outflows 6,205,889 4,820,109 4,707,383 

Current liabilities and deferred inflows 410,232 244,465 386,694 
Long-tenn liabilities 110,510 230,017 82,693 

Total liabilities and deferred inflows 520,742 474,482 469,387 
Net position: 

   

Net investment in capital assets 2,766,159 1,655,380 1,719,475 
Unrestricted amounts 2,918,988 2,690,247 2,518,521 
Total net position $ 5,685,147 $ 4,345,627 $ 4,237,996 
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Operating income (loss) 

Non-operating revenues (expenses) 

Net increase (decrease) in net position 

2024 2023 2022 
$ 448,290 

(816,056) 
$ 459,971 

(868,548) 
$ 446,886 

(795,937) 

(367,766) (408,577) (349,051) 

1,707,286 516,208 572,642 

$ 1,339,520 $ 107,631 $ 223,591 

   

Operating revenues 
Operating expenses 

WATERWORKS DISTRICT NO. 7 OF WARDS 6 AND 4 
CALCASIEU PARISH, LOUISIANA, A COMPONENT UNIT OF 

THE CALCASIEU PARISH POLICE JURY 
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2024 

Restricted net position amounts represent those assets that are not available for spending as a result of 
bond agreements. Conversely, unrestricted net position amounts are those that do not have any 
limitations for which they may be used. 

The net position of the District increased by $1,339,520, or 30.1%, from September 30, 2023 to 
September 30, 2024. 

CAPITAL ASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 

Capital Assets 

As of September 30, 2024, the District had $2,766,159, net of accumulated depreciation, invested in a 
broad range of capital assets, including land, right of ways, plant and distribution system, and furniture, 
fixtures, and equipment. (see table below). This amount represents a net increase (including additions and 
deductions) of $1,110,779, or (67.1%), from last year. 

 

2024 2023 2022 
Construction in Progress $ 1,272,135 $ 47,824 $ 
Land and Right of Ways 50,480 50,480 50,480 
Water Plant 4,791,291 4,791,291 4,790,712 
Buildings 130,729 130,729 130,729 
Furniture, Fixtures, and Equipment 25,008 22,688 21,895 
Meters and Equipment 974,807 941,506 901,413 

Less Accumulated Depreciation (4,478,291) (4,329,138) (4,175,754) 

Totals $ 2,766,159 $ 1,655,380 $ 1,719,475 

7 



WATERWORKS DISTRICT NO. 7 OF WARDS 6 AND 4 
CALCASIEU PARISH, LOUISIANA, A COMPONENT UNIT OF 

THE CALCASIEU PARISH POLICE JURY 
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2024 

This year's major capital additions included above were: 

• Edgerly Road Project $ 1,178,916 
• Flow Meter Project $ 31,854 

CONTACTING THE DISTRICT'S MANAGEMENT 

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, custorners and creditors with a general 
overview of the District's finances and to show tlie District's accountability for the money it receives. If 
you have questions about this report or need additional financial information, contact Eric Vige, District 
Manager, Waterworks District No. 7 of Wards 6 and 4, Calcasieu Parish. 



Waterworks District No. 7 of Wards 6 and 4 

Calcasieu Parish, Louisiana, a Component Unit of 

the Calcasieu Parish Police Jury 

Statements of Net Position 

As of September 30, 

ASSETS 

CURRENT ASSETS 

2024 2023 

  

Cash and cash equivalents $ 908,849 2,693,720 
Restricted assets: 

  

Cash and cash equivalents 132.302 131,302 
American Rescue Plan grant receivable 138,110 

 

Receivables - net of allowance for uncollectible accounts of 
$12.808 for 2024 and $12.043 for 2023 63.008 76,335 

Interest receivable 34.026 

 

Prepaid insurance 31,304 31,204 
Certificates of deposit 2,000,000 

 

Total Current Assets 3,307,599 2,932,561 

PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT 

  

Water plant 4,791,291 4,791,291 
Buildings 130.729 130,729 
Office furniture and equipment 25.008 22,688 
Meters and equipment 974,807 941,506 

 

5,921,835 5,886,214 
Less: accutnulated depreciation (4,478,291) (4,329,138) 

 

1,443,544 1,557,076 
Construction in Progress 1,272,135 47,824 
Land and right-of-ways 5(),48() 50,480 

Net Property. Plant, and Equipment 2,766,159 1.655.3g0 

OTHER ASSETS 

  

Perpetual service agreement 8,000 8.000 
Total Other Assets 8,000 8,000 

TOTAL ASSETS 6,081,758 4,595,941 

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS 

  

Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions 124,131 224,168 

TOTAL DEFERRED OUTFLOWS 124,131 224,168 

TOTAL ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS $ 6,205,889 $ 4,820,109 

The accotnpanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 9 



Waterworks District No. 7 of Wards 6 and 4 
Calcasieu Parish, Louisiana, a Component Unit of 

the Calcasieu Parish Police Jury 
Statements of Net Position (Continued) 

As of September 30, 

LIABILITIES 

CURRENT LIABILITIES 

 

2024 2023 

   

Accounts payable 

 

187,485 S 8,718 
Payroll taxes and retirement payable 

 

3,167 18,817 
Accnied compensation 

 

44,936 40,097 
DHH fees 

 

4,517 4,532 
Total Current Liabilities 

 

240,105 72,164 

CURRENT LIABILITIES (Payable from Restricted Assets) 

   

Customer deposits 

 

32,30() 31.300 
Deferred tax payable 

 

100,002 100.002 
Total Current Liabilities (Payable From Restricted Assets) 

 

132.302 131,302 

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 

   

Net pension liability 

 

42,027 167,530 
OPEB payable 

 

68,483 62,487 
Total Long-Tenn Liabilities 

 

110,510 230,017 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 

 

482,917 433,483 

DEFERRED INFLOWS 

   

Deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB 

 

18,652 21,399 
Defeued inflows of resources related to pensions 

 

19.173 19,600 

TOTAL DEFERRED INFLOWS 

 

37,825 40.999 

NET POSITION 

   

Net investment in capital assets 

 

2,766,159 1,655,380 
Unrestricted amounts 

 

2,918,988 2,690,247 

TOTAL NET POSITION 

 

5,685,147 4,345,627 

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS, AND NET POSITION 1, 6,205,889 4,820,109 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 10 



Waterworks District No. 7 of Wards 6 and 4 
Calcasieu Parish, Louisiana, a Component Unit of 

the Calcasieu Parish Police Jury 
Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 

For the Years Ended September 30, 

OPERATING REVENUES 

2024 2023 

  

Water sales and fees $ 421,010 $ 432.801 

Member fees 15,250 13,400 

Service charge income 3,025 4,470 

Late charge income 9,005 9,300 

Total Operating Revenues 448,290 459,971 

OPERATING EXPENSES 

  

Advertising 1,669 1,163 

Board per diem 6,000 5,400 

Bank charges 4,385 4,53() 

Bad debt expense 765 1,773 

Chemicals 27,759 36,767 

Depreciation 162,128 153,384 

Dues and subscriptions 6,110 6,010 
Fuel 14,357 14,150 

Insurance 127,919 109,529 

Office expenses 6,839 4,798 

Payroll taxes 4,596 4,495 
Retirement 10,604 69,065 

Permits and licenses 620 706 

Postage 9,041 8,949 

Professional services 32,232 32,123 
Professional development 795 661 

Repairs and maintenance 4,466 16,494 

Salaries 321,805 314.504 

Supplies 23,343 25,048 
Telephone 6,101 6,630 

Travel and meals 363 1,654 
Uniforms 2,022 1,039 

Utilities 42,137 49,676 

Total Operating Expenses 816,056 868,548 

INCOME (LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS $ (367,766) $ (408.577) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 11 



Waterworks District No. 7 of Wards 6 and 4 
Calcasieu Parish, Louisiana, a Component Unit of 

the Calcasieu Parish Police Jury 
Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position (Continued) 

For the Years Ended September 30, 

NON-OPERATING RE ENUES (EXPENSES) 

2024 2023 

  

Tax revenue $ 559,839 $ 509,893 
American Rescue Plan grant income 1,110,820 - 
Revenue sharing 4,099 4,158 
Interest income 34,249 965 
Miscellaneous revenues 524 2,696 
Miscellaneous expenses (2,245) (1,504) 

Total Non-0perating Reven es (Expenses) 1,707,286 516,208 

CHANGE IN NET POSITION 1,339,520 107,631 

NET POSITION - BEGINNING OF YEAR 4,345,627 4,237.996 

NET POSITION - END OF YEAR $ 5,685,147 $ 4,345,627 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 12 



Waterworks District No. 7 of Wards 6 and 4 
Calcasieu Parish, Louisiana, a Component Unit of 

the Calcasieu Parish Police Jury 
Statements of Cash Flows 

For the Years Ended September 30, 

Cash Flows From Operating Activities: 

2024 2023 

  

Receipts from custotners and users $ 460,852 $ 452,916 
Payments to suppliers (452,175) (389,053) 
Payments to employees (353,816) (315,406) 
Other (11,221) 12,466 

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities (356,360) (239,077) 

Cash Flows From Investing Activities: 

  

Purchase of certificates of deposit (2.000,000) 

 

Interest income 34,249 965 
Net Cash Provided (Used) by Investing Activities (1,965,751) 965 

Cash Flows From Capital and Related Financing Activities: 

  

Capital expenditures for plant and equiptnent (1,134,797) (89,288) 
Cash received for ad valorem taxes 559.839 509,893 
Federal grant receipts 1,110.820 

 

Intergovernmental - revenue sharing 4,099 4,158 
Cash provided frotn CPPJ grant 

 

80,000 
Casli provided from miscellaneous income 524 2,696 
Cash used for miscellaneous expenses (2,245) (1,504) 
Cash received (disbursed) for customer deposits 

 

(374) 

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Capital 
and Related Financing Activities 538,24() 505.581 

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents (1,783,871) 267,469 

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of Year 2.825.022 2,557,553 

Cash and Cash Equivalents - End of Year $ 1,041,151 $ 2.825.022 

Cash and Cash Equivalents: 

  

Unrestricted 908,849 2,693,720 
Restricted 132.302 131,302 

 

$ 1,041,151 2,825,022 

The accotnpanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 13 



Waterworks District No. 7 of Wards 6 and 4 
Calcasieu Parish, Louisiana, a Component Unit of 

the Calcasieu Parish Police Jury 
Statements of Cash Flows (Continued) 

For the Years Ended September 30, 

Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net Cash 
Provided (Used) by Operating Activities: 

2024 2023 

  

Income (loss) from operations (367,766) (408,577) 
Adjusunents to reconcile net operating income 

to net cash provided by operating activities: 

  

Depreciation 162.128 153,384 
Provisions for bad debts 765 1,773 
(Increase) decrease in receivables (159,574) (23,597) 
(Increase) decrease in prepaid insurance (100) (3,829) 
(Increase) decrease in net pension asset 

 

202,478 
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 

and other accnied expenses 30,831 7,805 
Increase (decrease) in net pension liability (125,503) 167,530 
Increase (decrease) in accrued OPEB liability 5,996 (20,206) 
Increase (decrease) in deferred inflows (3,174) (149,660) 
(Increase) decrease in deferred outflows 100,037 (166378) 

Total Adjustments 11,406 169,500 

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities $ (356,360) $ (239,077) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 14 



WATERWORKS DISTRICT NO. 7 OF WARDS 6 AND 4 
CALCASIEU PARISH, LOUISIANA, A COMPONENT UNIT OF 

THE CALCASIEU PARISH POLICE JURY 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2024 AND 2023 

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Watenvorks District No. 7 of Wards 6 and 4 of Calcasieu Parish, Louisiana, was created by ordinance of 
the Calcasieu Parish Police Jury. The District is governed by a board of five members who are appointed 
by the Calcasieu Parish Police Jury. 

The accounting and reporting policies of the District conform to generally accepted accounting principles as 
applicable to goyerninents. Such accounting and reporting procedures also conform to the requirements of 
Louisiana Revised Statutes 24:517 and to the guides set forth in the Louisiana Municipal Audit and 
Accounting Guide, and to the industry audit guide, Audits of State and Local Governmental Units. 

Financial Reporting Entity 

As more fully described in paragraph one above, Waterworks District No. 7 of Wards 6 and 4 of Calcasieu 
Parish, Louisiana, is governed by a board appointed by the Calcasieu Parish Police Jury. 

As the governing authority of the parish, for reporting purposes, the Calcasieu Parish Police Juiy is the 
financial reporting entity for Calcasieu Parish. The financial reporting entity consists of: (a) the primary 
government (police juiy), (b) organizations for which the primary government is financially accountable, 
and (c) other organizations for which the nature and significance of their relationship with the primary 
governrnent are such that exclusion would cause the reporting entity's financial staternents to be rnisleading 
or incomplete. 

Governrnental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 14 established criteria for determining 
which component wiits should be considered part of the Calcasieu Parish Police Jury for financial reporting 
purposes. The basic criterion for including a potential coinponent unit within the reporting entity is 
financial accountability. The GASB has set forth criteria to be considered in determining financial 
accountability. This criterion includes: 

1. Appointing a voting majority of an organization's governing body, and: 
a. The ability of the police jury to impose its will on that organization and/or; 
b. The potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to or impose 

specific financial burdens on the police juiy. 
Organizations for which the police jury does not appoint a voting majority, but are fiscally 
dependent on the police juiy. 

3. Organizations for which the reporting entity financial statements would be misleading if 
data of the organization is not included because of the nature or significance of the 
relationship. 

Because the police jury appoints a voting majority of the District's board members, the District was 
determined to be a component unit of the Calcasieu Parish Police Jury, the financial reporting entity. The 
accompanying financial stateinents present inforination only on the funds inaintained by the District and do 
not present information on the police jury, the general government services provided by the police juiy, or 
the other governmental units that comprise the financial reporting entity. 
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WATERWORKS DISTRICT NO. 7 OF WARDS 6 AND 4 
CALCASIEU PARISH, LOUISIANA, A COMPONENT UNIT OF 

THE CALCASIEU PARISH POLICE JURY 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2024 AND 2023 

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Fund Accounting 

The accounts of the District are organized on the basis of a proprietary fund, which is considered a 
separate accounting entity or enterprise fund. Enterprise funds are used to account for operations (a) that 
are financed and operated in manner similar to private business enterprises — where the intent of the 
uoverning body is that the costs (expenses, including depreciation) of providing goods or services to the 
general public on a continuing basis be financed or recovered primarily through user charges; or (b) 
where the goveniing body has decided that periodic determination of revenues earned, expenses incurred, 
and/or net income is appropriate for capital maintenance, public policy, management control, 
accountability, or other purposes. 

Basis of Accounting 

The District has implemented GASB Statement No. 34, "Basic Financial Statements — and Management's 
Discussion and Analysis — for State and Local Governments". 

The District uses the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized when they are earned and 
expenses are recognized when they are incurred. 

Proprietary funds distinguish opertning revenues and expenses from non-operating items. Operating 
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in 
connection with a proprietary fiind's principal onuoing operations. The principal operating revenues of 
the District's enterprise fund are charges to customers for sales and services. The District also recognizes 
as operating revenue the portion of tap fees intended to recover the cost of connecting new customers to 
the system. Operating expenses for enterprise fluids include the cost of sales and services, administrative 
expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are 
reported as non-operating revenues and expenses. 

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the District's policy to use 
restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed. 

The proprietary fiind is accounted for on a cost of services or capital maintenance measurement focus, and 
all assets and liabilities (whether current or non-current) associated with its activity are included in the 
statement of net position. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

The District considers all short-term investments with an original maturity of three months or less to be 
cash equivalents. 
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WATERWORKS DISTRICT NO. 7 OF WARDS 6 AND 4 
CALCASIEU PARISH, LOUISIANA, A COMPONENT UNIT OF 

THE CALCASIEU PARISH POLICE JURY 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2024 AND 2023 

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Accounts Receivable 

Accounts receivable are stated at cost less an allowance for doubtful accounts. Accounts are considered 
delinquent when 30 days past due (based on days since last payment). The allowance account consists of 
an estimate of uncollectible specifically identified accounts and a general reserve. Manaement's 
evaluation of the adequacy of the allowance is based on a continuing review of all accounts and includes a 
consideration of past user history, any adverse situations that might affect the user's ability to repay, and 
current economic conditions. The need for an adjustment to the allowance is considered at year end. 
Amounts charged-off that are subsequently recovered are recorded as income. 

Fixed Assets 

Capital assets are defined by the District as assets witli an initial, individual cost of more than $500 and an 
estimated useful life in excess of one year. Property, plant, and equipment are stated at historical cost. 
Expenditures for major renewals or betterments that extend the useful lives of property and equipment are 
capitalized. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. Depreciation of 
all exhaustible property, plant and equipment is charged as an expense against operations. 

Depreciation is provided in amounts sufficient to relate the cost of the depreciable assets to operations 
over their estimated useful lives on the straight-line basis. The useful lives range from 5 to 40 years. 
Land and right of way costs are not depreciated. 

Depreciation expense for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 was $162,128 and $153,384, 
respectively. 

Budgets and Budgetary Accounting 

The District adopts a budget annually for operating expenses. The budget is adopted under a basis 
consistent with GAAP, except that depreciation, certain capital expenses, revenues, non-operating income 
and certain non-operating expense items are not considered. The budget for the District is not presented 
in these statements. 

Risk Management 

The District purchases fidelity bonds, worker's compensation coverage and general liability and property 
insurance from a commercial insurance carrier in order to manage its risks. During the years ended 
September 30, 2024 and 2023, the District contributed premiums of $47,613 and $40,843, respectively. 
There were no significant reductions in insurance coverage from the prior year. 
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CALCASIEU PARISH, LOUISIANA, A COMPONENT UNIT OF 

THE CALCASIEU PARISH POLICE JURY 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2024 AND 2023 

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Property Taxes 

For the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, taxes of 6.66 mills were levied on all the taxable 
property in Waterworks District No. 7 of Wards 6 and 4, Calcasieu Parish, Louisiana. These taxes were 
dedicated for the Maintenance Fund. 

The following is a schedule of the 2023 property tax calendar that is applicable to the District: 

1. Levy date - October, 2023 
2. Billing date - November, 2023 
3. Collection dates - December, 2023- May, 2024 
4. Due dated - On receipt 
S. Delinquent date - December 31, 2023 
6. Lien date - June, 2024 

These taxes, less certain uncollectible amounts, collection costs and adjustments, plus minor amounts of 
prior year taxes are reported for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024. 

Note 2 - Restricted Assets 

An ad valorem tax was levied, assessed and imposed on all the taxable property in Waterworks District 
No. 7 of Wards 6 and 4, Calcasieu Parish, Louisiana, for the purpose of paying the principal and interest 
on the General Obligation Bonds in prior years. Tax revenues received that are dedicated for such 
purposes are required to be restricted. See note 11 for additional information. 

Proceeds from refundable customer deposits are also restricted for the repayment of meter deposits. 

Federal grant receivables from the American Rescue Plan Act are restricted for the purpose of 
constructing various improvements to the water distribution system. 

The following is a schedule of restricted assets as of September 30,: 

 

2024 2023 
General Obligation Bond Fund $ 100,002 $ 100,002 
Customer Deposits Fund 32,300 31,300 
American Rescue Plan Receivable 138,110 

  

270,412 S 131,302 
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WATERWORKS DISTRICT NO. 7 OF WARDS 6 AND 4 
CALCASIEU PARISH, LOUISIANA, A COMPONENT UNIT OF 

THE CALCASIEU PARISH POLICE JURY 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2024 AND 2023 

Note 3 — Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Certificates of Deposit 

Under Louisiana Revised Statutes 33:2955, the District may deposit funds in demand deposit accounts, 
interest bearing demand deposit accounts, money market accounts, and time certificates of deposit with state 
banks, organized under Louisiana Law and National Banks having principal offices in Louisiana. 
Additionally, Louisiana statutes allow the District to invest in United States Treasury' obligations, 
obligations issued or guaranteed by the United States government or federal agencies, highly rated 
investment grade cominercial paper, and mutual or trust funds registered with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission which have underlying investments consisting solely of and limited to the United States 
governrnent or its agencies. 

At September 30, 2024 and 2023, the District had cash, cash equivalents, and certificates of deposit (book 
balances) totaling $3,041,151 and S2,825,022, respectively. 

These deposits are stated at cost, which approximates market. Under state law, these deposits (or the 
resulting bank balances) must be secured by federal deposit insurance or the pledge of securities. The 
market value of the pledged securities plus the federal deposit insurance must at all times equal the 
amount on deposit with the fiscal agent. These securities are held by the pledging financial institution's 
trust department or agent, in the District's narne. 

Custodial Credit Risk is the risk that in the event of bank failure, the District's deposits may not be 
returned. The District deposits its cash with high quality financial institutions, and management believes 
the District is not exposed to significant credit risk. 

At Septernber 30, 2024, the District had $3,047,661 in deposits (collected bank balances). These deposits 
are secured from risk by $311,426 of federal deposit insurance and $3,146,468 of pledged securities held 
in a custodial bank in the District's name. 

At September 30, 2023, the District had S2,878,353 in deposits (collected bank balances). These deposits 
are secured frorn risk by $373,096 of federal deposit insurance and $2,631,534 of pledged securities held 
in a custodial bank in the District's name. 

Note 4 - Parochial Employees Retirement System of Louisiana 

Plan Description 

The Parochial Employees' Retirement System of Louisiana (System) is the administrator of a cost-sharing 
multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan. The Systern was originally established by Act 205 of the 
1952 regular session of the Legislature of the State of Louisiana. 
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THE CALCASIEU PARISH POLICE JURY 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2024 AND 2023 

Note 4 - Parochial Emplovees Retirement System of Louisiana (Continued) 

The System provides retirernent benefits to employees of any parish within the State of Louisiana or any 
governing body or a parish which employs and pays persons serving the parish. Act 765 of the year 1979, 
established by the Legislature of the State of Louisiana, revised the System to create Plan A and Plan B to 
replace the "regular plan" and the "supplemental plan". Plan A was designated for employers out of 
Social Security. Plan B was designated for those employers that remained in Social Security on the 
revision date. The District is a participating member of Plan A. PERS is govenied by Louisiana Revised 
Statues, Title 11, Sections 1901 through 2025, specifically, and other general laws of the State of Louisiana. 

The following is a description of the plan and its benefits and is provided for general information 
purposes only. Participants should refer to the appropriate statutes for rnore complete information. 

Eligibility Requirements 

All pennanent parish government employees (except those employed by Orleans, Lafourche and East 
Baton Rouge Parishes) who work at least 28 hours a week shall becorne rnernbers on the date of 
employment. New ernployees meeting the age and Social Security criteria have up to 90 days from the 
date of hire to elect to participate. 

As of January 1997, elected officials, except coroners, justices of the peace, and parish 
presidents may no longer join the Systern. 

Retirement Benefits 

Any member of Plan A can retire providing lie/she rneets one of the following criteria: 

For employees hired prior to January 1, 2007: 

1.Any age with thirty (30) or more years of creditable service. 
2. Age 55 with twenty-five (25) years of creditable service. 
3. Age 60 with a minimum of ten (10) years of creditable service. 
4. Age 65 with a minimum of seven (7) years of creditable service. 
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Note 4 - Parochial Employees Retirement System of Louisiana (Continued) 

For employees hired after January 1, 2007: 

1.Age 55 with 30 years of service. 
2. Age 62 with 10 years of service. 
3. Age 67 with 7 years of service. 

Any member of Plan B can retire providing helshe meets one of the following criteria: 
For employees hired prior to January 1, 2007: 

1.Age 55 with thirty (30) years of creditable service. 
2. Age 60 with a minimum of ten (10) years of creditable service. 
3. Age 65 with a minimum of seven (7) years of creditable service. 

For employees hired after January 1, 2007: 

1.Age 55 with 30 years of service. 
2. Age 62 with 10 years of service. 
3. Age 67 with 7 years of service. 

Generally, the monthly amount of the retirement allowance of any member of Plan A shall consist of an 
amount equal to 3.00% of the member's final average compensation multiplied by his/her years of 
creditable service. However, under certain conditions, as outlined in the statutes, the benefits are limited 
to specified arnounts. 

Survivor Benefits 

Upon the death of any member of Plan A with five (5) or more years of creditable service who is not 
eligible for retirement, the plan provides for benefits for the surviving spouse and minor children, as 
outlined in the statutes. 

Any member of Plan A, who is eligible for normal retirement at time of death, the surviving spouse shall 
receive an automatic Option 2 benefit, as outlined in the statutes. Plan B members need ten (10) years of 
service credit to be eligible for survivor benefits. Upon the death of any member of Plan B with twenty 
(20) or more years of creditable service who is not eligible for normal retirernent, the plan provides for an 
automatic Option 2 benefit for the surviving spouse when he/she reaches age 50 and until rernarriage, if 
the remarriage occurs before age 55. 

A surviving spouse who is not eligible for Social Security survivorship or retirement benefits, and 
married not less than twelve (12) months immediately preceding death of the member, shall be paid an 
Option 2 benefit beginning at age 50. 
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Note 4 - Parochial Emplovees Retirement System of Louisiana (Continued) 

Deferred Retirement Option Plan 

Act 338 of 1990 established the Defened Retirement Option Plan (DROP) for the Retirement System. 
DROP is an option for that member who is eligible for normal retirement. In lieu of terminating 
employment and accepting a service retirement, any member of Plan A or B who is eligible to retire may 
elect to participate in the Deferred Retirement Option Plan (DROP) in which they are enrolled for three 
years and defer the receipt of benefits. During participation in the plan, employer contributions are 
payable but employee contributions cease. The monthly retirement benefits that would be payable, had 
the person elected to cease employment and receive a service retirement allowance, are paid into the 
DROP Fund. 

Upon terrnination of employment prior to or at the end of the specified period of participation, a 
participant in the DROP may receive, at his option, a lump sum from the account equal to the payments 
into the account, a true annuity based upon his account balance in that fund, or roll over the fund to an 
Individual Retirement Account. Interest is accnied on the DROP benefits for the period between the end 
of DROP participation and the member's retirement date. 

For individuals who become eligible to participate in the Deferred Retirement Option Plan on or after 
January 1, 2004, all amounts which remain credited to the individual's subaccount after termination in the 
Plan will be placed in liquid asset money market investments at the discretion of the board of tnistees. 
These subaccounts may be credited with interest based on money rnarket rates of return or, at the option 
of the System, the funds may be credited to self-directed subaccounts. The participant in the self-directed 
portion of this Plan rnust agree that the benefits payable to the participant are not the obligations of the 
state or the System, and that any returns and other rights of the Plan are the sole liability and 
responsibility of the participant and the designated provider to which contributions have been made. 

Disability Benefits 

For Plan A, a member shall be eligible to retire and receive a disability benefit if they were hired prior to 
January 1, 2007, and has at least five years of creditable service or if hired after January 1, 2007, has 
seven years of creditable service, and is not eligible for norrnal retirement and has been officially certified 
as disabled by the State Medical Disability Board. Upon retirement caused by disability, a member of 
Plan A shall be paid a disability benefit equal to the lesser of an arnount equal to three percent of the 
member's final average compensation multiplied by his years of service, not to be less than fifteen, or 
three percent multiplied by years of service asswning continued service to age sixty for those members 
who are enrolled prior to January 1, 2007 and to age 62 for those members who are enrolled January 1, 
2007 and later. 
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Note 4 - Parochial Emplovees Retirement System of Louisiana (Continued) 

For Plan B, a member shall be eligible to retire and receive a disability benefit if he/she was hired prior to 
January 1, 2007, and has at least five years of creditable service or if hired after January 1, 2007, has 
seven years of creditable service, and is not eligible for normal retirement, and has been officially 
certified as disabled by the State Medical Disability Board. Upon retirement caused by disability, a 
member of Plan B shall be paid a disability benefit equal to the lesser of an amount equal to two percent 
of the member's final average compensation multiplied by his years of service, to age sixty for those 
members who are enrolled prior to January 1, 2007 and to age sixty-two for those members who are 
enrolled January 1, 2007 and later. 

Cost of Living Increases 

The Board is authorized to provide a cost of living allowance for those retirees who retired prior to July 
1973. The adjustment cannot exceed 2% of the retiree's original benefit for each full calendar year since 
retirement and may only be granted if sufficient funds are available from investment income in excess of 
normal requirements. 

In addition, the Board may provide an additional cost of living increase to all retirees and beneficiaries 
who are over age sixty-five equal to 2% of the member's benefit paid on October 1, 1977, (or the 
member's retirement date, if later). Also, the Board may provide a cost of living increase up to 2.5% for 
retirees 62 and older. (RS 11:1937). Lastly, Act 270 of 2009 provided for further reduced actuarial 
payments to provide an annual 2.5% cost of living adjustment commencing at age 55. 

Employer Contributions 

According to state statute, contributions for all employers are actuarially determined each year. For the 
year ended December 31, 2(122, the actuarially determined contribution rate was 7.10% of member's 
compensation for Plan A and 4.93% of member's compensation for Plan B. However, the actual rate for 
the fiscal year ending September 30, 2023 was 11.50% for Plan A and 7.50% for Plan B. The actual rate 
for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2022 was 11.50% for Plan A and 7.50% for Plan B. 

According to state statute, the System also receives 'A of 1% of ad valorem taxes collected within the 
respective parishes, except for Orleans and East Baton Rouge parishes. The System also receives revenue 
sharing funds each year as appropriated by the Legislature. Tax monies and revenue sharing monies are 
apportioned between Plan A and Plan B in proportion to the member's compensation. These additional 
sources of income are used as additional employer contributions and are considered support from non-
contributing entities. 

Payroll for the District's employees covered by the system for the year ended September 30, 2024 and 
2023 was $316,967 and $310,006; the District's total payroll and accrued benefits for 2024 and 2023 was 
$321,805 and $314,504, respectively. The District contributed S36,497 and $35,769 to the system during 
the years 2024 and 2023. As of September 30, 2024, the total amount owed to the Parochial Retirement 
System was $1,933. 
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Note 4 - Parochial Employees Retirement System of Louisiana (Continued) 

Administrative costs of the System are financed through employer contributions. 

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred 
Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions 

At September 30, 2024, the District reported a net pension liability of $42,027 for its proportionate 
share of the net pension liability. The net pension liability was measured as of December 31, 2023, and 
the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined on a basis that is 
consistent with the rnanner in which contributions to the pension plan are determined. The allocation 
percentages were used in calculating each employer's proportionate share of the pension amounts. The 
allocation method used in determining each employer's proportion was based on the employer's projected 
contribution effort to the plan. The employers' contribution effort was actuarially deterrnined by the 
System's actuary. 

For the year ended September 30, 2024, the District recognized pension expense of $10,604. At 
September 30, 2024, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to pensions from the following sources: 

 

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows 
Differences between expected and actual 
experience 

S 19,901 11,281 

Net difference between projected and actual 
earnings on pension plan invesnnents 

67,733 - 

Changes in assumptions - 7,322 
Differences between District contributions and 
proportionate share of contributions 

 

570 

District contributions made subsequent to the 
measurement date 

36,497 - 

Total S 124, 131 19, 173 
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Note 4 - Parochial Employees Retirement System of Louisiana (Continued) 

The District's contributions during the year ended September 30, 2024, reported as deferred outflows, of 
$36,497, subsequent to the measurement date, will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension 
liability in the year ended September 30, 2025. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources 
and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 

Year ended September 30: 

 

?(125 5,,,_, , -)1S .,  
?(_126 33,771 
2027 57,004 
2028 (27,532) 
Total $ 68,461 

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions 

The net pension liability was mea.sured as the portion of the present value of projected benefit 
payments to be provided through the pension plan to cunent active and inactive employees that is 
attributed to those employees' past periods of service, less the amount of the pension plan's fiduciaty net 
position. 

A swnmary of the actuarial methods and asswnptions used in determining the total pension liability (asset) as 
of December 31, 2023 are as follows: 

Valuation Date 

Actuarial Cost Method 

Actuarial Assumptions: 
Investment Rate of Return 

Projected Salaty Increases 

Mortality Rates 

December 31, 2023 

Plan A - Entiy Age Noimal Cost 
Plan B — Entry Age Normal Cost 

6.40%, net of pension plan investment expense 

Plan A - 4.75% 
Plan B - 4.25% 

Pub-2010 Public Retirement Plans Mortality Table for Health Retirees 
multiplied by 130% for males and 125% for females using MP2021 
scale for annuitant and beneficiary mortality. For employees, the Pub-
2010 Public Retirement Plans Mortality Table for General Employees 
multiplied by 130% for males and 125% for females using MP2021 
scale. Pub-2010 Public Retirement Plans Mortality Table for General 
Disabled Retirees multiplied by 130% for males and 125% for females 
using MP2021 scale for disabled annuitants. 
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Note 4 - Parochial Emplovees Retirement System of Louisiana (Continued) 

Expected Remaining 
Service Lives 

Cost of Living Adjustments 

Inflation Rate  

4 years for Plan A and Plan B 

The present value of future retirement benefits is based on benefits 
currently being paid by the System and includes previously uanted 
cost of living increases. The present values do not include provisions 
for potential future increase not yet authorized by the Board of 
Trustees. 

2.30% 

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.40% for Plan A and Plan B. The 
projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan 
members will be made at the current contribution rates and that contributions from participating 
employers and non-employer contributing entities will be made at the actuarially determined contribution 
rates, which are calculated in accordance with relevant statutes and approved by the Board of Trustees 
and the Public Retirement Systems' Actuarial Committee. Based on those asswiiptions, the System's 
fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of 
current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of retuni on pension plan investments was 
applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. 

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investrnents was determined using a triangulation 
method which integrated the capital asset pricing model (top-down), a treasury yield curve approach 
(bottom-up) and an equity building-block model (bottom-up). Risk return and correlations are projected 
on a forward looking basis in equilibrium, in which best-estirnates of expected future real rates of return 
(expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major 
asset class. These rates are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the 
expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected 
inflation of 2.30% and an adjustment for the effect of rebalancing/diversification. The resulting expected 
long-term rate of return is 7.50% for the year ended Decernber 31, 2023. 
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Note 4 - Parochial Employees Retirement System of Louisiana (Continued) 

Best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class included in the Systern's target 
asset allocation as of December 31, 2023 are summarized in the following table: 

 

Target Asset Long-Term Expected 
Asset Class Allocation Portfolio Real Rate of Return 

Fixed income 33% 1.12% 
Equity 51% 3.20% 
Alternatives 14% 0.67% 
Real assets 2 A 0.11% 
Totals 100% 5.10% 

   

Inflation 

 

2 40% 
Expected Arithmetic Nominal 

  

Return 

 

7.50% 

Sensitivity to Changes in Discount Rate 

The following presents the net pension liability/(asset) of the District calculated using the discount rate of 
6.40%, as well as what the District's net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount 
rate that is one percentage point lower (5.40%) or one percentage point higher (7.40%) than the current 
rate. 

Changes in Discount Rate 

     

1% Current Discount 1°,4) 

 

Decrease Rate Increase 

 

5.40% 6.40% 7.40% 

 

Net Pension 
Liability 

Net Pension 
Liability 

Net Pension 
Asset 

Net Pension Liability ( Asset) $299,873 $42,027 $(174,409) 

Retirement System Audit Report 

The Parochial Employees' Retirement System of Louisiana has issued a stand-alone audit report on their 
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023. Access to the report can be found on the 
Louisiana Legislative Auditor's website, www.11a.la.gov. 

27 



WATERWORKS DISTRICT NO. 7 OF WARDS 6 AND 4 
CALCASIEU PARISH, LOUISIANA, A COMPONENT UNIT OF 

THE CALCASIEU PARISH POLICE JURY 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2024 AND 2023 

Note 5 - Management Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the 
reported arnounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ frorn 
those estimates. 

Note 6 - Prior Year Balances  

Certain prior year amounts may have been reclassified to conform to current year presentation. 

Note 7 — Capital Assets  

Capital asset activity for the year ended September 30, 2024 was as follows: 

 

Beginning 
of Year Additions 

 

Transfers/ End of 
Disposals Year 

Construction in Progress 47,824 1,224,311 $ - $ 1,272,135 
Land and Right of Ways 50,48() 

  

50,48() 
Total Capital Assets Not Being 

Depreciated 98,304 1,224,311 

 

- 1,322,615 
Capital Assets Being Depreciated: 

    

Water Plant 4,791,291 

  

4,791,291 
Buildings 130,729 

  

130,729 
Office Furniture and Equipment 22,688 2,320 

 

25,008 
Meters and Equipment 941,506 46,276 

 

12,975 974,807 
Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated 5,886,214 48,596 

 

12,975 5,921,835 
Less Accurnulated Depreciation 4,329,138 162,128 

 

(12,975) 4,478,291 
Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated, 

Net of Depreciation 1,557,076 (113,532) 

 

1,443,544 
Total Capital Assets, Net 1,655,380 1,110,779 $ 2,766,159 
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Note 7 — Capital Assets (Continued) 

Capital asset activity for the year ended September 30, 2023 was as follows: 

Construction in Progress 

Beginning 
of Year Additions 

$ 

Transfers/ End of 
Disposals Year 

- $ 47,824 - $ 47,824 
Land and Right of Ways 50,480 

  

50,480 
Total Capital Assets Not Being 

Depreciated 50,480 47,824 

 

98,304 
Capital Assets Being Depreciated: 

    

Water Plant 4,790,712 579 

 

- 4, 791,291 
Buildings 130,729 - 

 

- 130,729 
Office Furniture and Equipment 21,895 793 

 

- 22,688 
Meters and Equipment 901,413 40,093 

 

- 941,506 
Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated 5,844,749 41,465 

 

5,886,214 
Less Accumulated Depreciation 4,175,754 153,384 

 

4,329,138 
Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated, 

Net of Depreciation 1,668,995 (111,919) 

 

1,557,076 
Total Capital Assets, Net 1,719,475 $ (64,095) $ 1,655,380 

Note 8 - Perpetual Servitude 

    

In June, 1995, the Waterworks District entered into a perpetual servitude agreement for the right to drill 
and maintain water wells, construct and maintain water lines, and to perform such other tasks as may be 
reasonably related to the operation and maintenance of water wells on the property located next to the 
Waterworks District inain office. The total cost of the agreement was $8,000. 

Note 9 — Other Postemplovment Benefits (OPEB) 

In 2018, the Calcasieu Parish Police Jury (Parish) implemented Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board (GASB) Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits 
Other Than Pensions (OPEB). This Statement addresses the fact that certain postemployment benefits 
other than pensions, which for the Parish consist of healthcare benefits only, are related to employee 
services and salaries received presently but that will benefit the employee in the future — upon retirernent 
— and whose costs will be borne by the Parish in the future. The Statement also attempts to quantify the 
future "retirement" costs that have been earned by the employee during his/her active years of 
employment. The Parish will finance the posteinployment benefits on a "pay-as-you-go" basis. GASB 
Statement 75 requires that the liability be recognized in the financial statements for the actuarial 
detennined portion of the projected benefit payments to be provided to current active and inactive 
employees that is attributed to those employees' past periods of service. The notes to the financial 
statements contain other required disclosure information from GASB Statement 75. 
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WATERWORKS DISTRICT NO. 7 OF WARDS 6 AND 4 
CALCASIEU PARISH, LOUISIANA, A COMPONENT UNIT OF 

THE CALCASIEU PARISH POLICE JURY 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2024 AND 2023 

Note 9 — Other Postemuloyment Benefits (OPEB) (Continued) 

The Parish contracted with a third-party consultant to perforrn the actuarial valuation required by GASB 
Statement No. 75. The consultant performed a full valuation for 2022 using a valuation date of January 1, 
2022, and a measurement date of December 31, 2022. For the Parish plan, a full actuarial valuation is 
required every other year; therefore, using the 2022 census data and including all appropriate adjustments, 
a roll forward calculation was prepared for year end 2023 disclosure information with a measurement date 
of December 31, 2023. The 2023 valuation included a change in asswnption for a decrease in the discount 
rate (described in the table below). 

Actuarial valuations for OPEB plans involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions 
about the probability of events far into the future. These actuarially determined amounts are subject to 
continual revisions as actual results are compared to past expectations and new estimates are made about 
the future. 

Plan Description: The Parish OPEB Plan is a single employer defined benefit "substantive" plan as 
understood by the ernployer and its employees. As a component unit, the District may at their option 
participate in the employee's group health, dental and life insurance programs sponsored and 
administered by the Parish in conjunction with its third party insurance providers and administrative 
agents. 

While there is no specific vaitten plan for the Parish OPEB plan alone and therefore no separate annual 
report is issued, the Parish has reported this plan information based on communications to plan members via 
the written health plan rnaintained by the Parish. Any amendments to the general health plan as related to 
types of benefits offered are required to be approved by Parish management before being distributed to Plan 
members. No assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB Statement 75. 

Benefits Provided: The Parish OPEB Plan provides health (medical and prescription), dental and life 
insurance programs for retirees and their dependents. Medical coverage, including prescription drugs as 
part of the medical plan, is offered to pre-65 and post-65 retirees on a self-insured basis. Benefits are 
subsidized by the Parish. Dental and life insurance coverage are available to retirees, but these 
coverages are not subsidized by the Parish. The Parish does not reimburse for Medicare Part B or 
Part D premium for Medicare eligible retirees and dependents. 

Employees Covered: Employees who have twenty (20) years of cumulative service at retirement will be 
eligible for the above referenced retiree benefits if hired after January 1, 2007. Employees hired prior to 
January 1, 2007 rnust have ten (10) years of cumulative service to be eligible for any retiree benefits. 
Retirees are required to contribute one hundred percent (100%) of the monthly retiree premium for 
benefits elected. 
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WATERWORKS DISTRICT NO. 7 OF WARDS 6 AND 4 
CALCASIEU PARISH, LOUISIANA, A COMPONENT UNIT OF 

THE CALCASIEU PARISH POLICE JURY 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2024 AND 2023 

Note 9 — Other Posteniployment Benefits (OPEB) (Continued) 

Using the 2022 census information, the following employees were covered by the benefit terms for the 
2023 valuation: 

Parish District 
Active Employees 1,109 5 
Inactive Employees or Beneficiaries 

Currently Receiving Benefit Payments 170 
Inactive Employees Entitled to But Not Yet 

Receiving Benefit Payments 

Total Covered Employees 1,279 5     

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions: Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on 
the substantive plan (the plan as understood by the employer and plan members) and include the types of 
benefits provided at the time of each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing of benefit costs 
between the employer and the plan members. The actuarial calculations of the OPEB plan reflect a long-
term perspective. Consistent with this perspective, the actuarial methods and assumptions used include 
techniques that are designed to reduce the effects of short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities 
and the actuarial value of assets, consistent with the long-term perspective of the calculations. 

The total OPEB liability for the 2023 actuarial valuation, with a measurement date of December 31, 2023, 
was determined using the following actuarial assumptions and other inputs, unless otherwise specified: 

Inflation Rate Not utilized by the actuary — see discount rate 
information. 

Discount Rate 3.88% using an average of following two 20-year 
municipal bond indices and rounded to the nearest 
0.1%: (a) S&P Municipal Bond 20 Year High 
Grade Rate Index — 4.00%, and (b) Fidelity GO 
AA 20 Years — 3.77%. The discount rate of 3.88% 
was decreased from 4.18% utilized in 2022. 

Healthcare Cost Trend Rates 7% for pre-65 and post 65 retirees decreasing 
.25% per year to an ultimate rate of 4.5% in 2034 
and later. 

Salary Increases 3.5% 
Cost of Living Increases Not applicable 

Mortality Rate Table Used for Current 
Valuation 

Society of Actuaries Pub-2010 Public Retirement 
Plans Healthy Male and Female Total Dataset 
Headcount-weighted Mortality tables based on 
Employee and Healthy Annuitant Tables for both 
pre- and post-retirement projected with mortality 
improvements using the most current Society of 
Actuaries Mortality Improvement Scale MP-2021. 
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Governmental 
Activities 

Total Primary 
Government 

Parish Plan 
Component 

Units 

Total 
OPEB Plan 

Total OPEB Liability 
at Beginning of Year 

Current Period 

$ 24,003,108 S 24,003,108 $ 13,672,614 $ 37,675,722 

Service Cost 318,823 318,823 209,()62 527.885 

Interest on Total 909,846 909,846 519,679 1,429,525 
OPEB Liabilitv 

Changes in 
Assumptions** 

1,238,758 1,238,758 761,410 2,000,168 

Benefit Payments (1,106,949) (1,106,949) (557,615) (1,664,564) 

Net Change in Total 1,360,478 1,360,478 932,536 2,293,014 
OPEB Liabilitv 

Total OPEB 

    

Obligation at End of $ 25,363,586 $ 25,363,586 S 14,605,15() $ 39,968,736 
Year — 

    

** Changes in assuinptions reflect a decrease of 0.30% in the discount rate from 4.18% for 2022 
to 3.88% for 2023. 

WATERWORKS DISTRICT NO. 7 OF WARDS 6 AND 4 
CALCASIEU PARISH, LOUISIANA, A COMPONENT UNIT OF 

THE CALCASIEU PARISH POLICE JURY 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2024 AND 2023 

Note 9 — Other Posteniplovment Benefits (OPEB) (Continued) 

Changes in the Total OPEB Liability:  The following table shows the components of the Parish's total 
OPEB liability for the current year: 

Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liabilitv to Changes in the Discount Rate. The following presents the total 

OPEB liability of the Parish, as well as what the Parish's and District's total OPEB liability would be if it 

were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower (2.88%) or one percentage point 

higher (4.88%) than the current discount rate of 3.88%: 

 

1% Decrease 
(2.88%) 

Discount Rate 
(3.88%) 

1% Increase 
(4.88%) 

Total OPEB Liability - 
Parish 

$47,696,209 $39,968,736 $34,181,047 

Total OPEB Liability - 
District 

$81,724 $68,483 $58,566 
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WATERWORKS DISTRICT NO. 7 OF WARDS 6 AND 4 
CALCASIEU PARISH, LOUISIANA, A COMPONENT UNIT OF 

THE CALCASIEU PARISH POLICE JURY 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2024 AND 2023 

Note 9 — Other Posteniployment Benefits (OPEB) (Continued) 

Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcare Cost Trend Rate: The following 

presents the total OPEB liability of the Parish, as well as what the Parish's and District's total OPEB 

liability would be if it were calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that are one percentaue point 

lower (6%) or one percentage point higher (8%) than the current healthcare cost trend rate of 7%: 

 

1% Decrease (6%) 
Healthcare Cost 
Trend Rate (7%) 

1% Increase (8%) 

Total OPEB Liability - 
Parish 

$33,994,726 $39,968,736 $47,675,526 

Total OPEB Liability - 
District 

$58,247 $68,483 $81,688 

OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to 
OPEB. Changes in Total OPEB Liability are either reported in OPEB expense in the year the change 
occurred or recognized as a deferred outflow of resources or a deferred inflow of resources in the year the 
change occurred and amortized into OPEB expense over a number of years. For the year ended 
September 30, 2024, the District recognized OPEB expense of $3,249. At September 30, 2024, the 
following table details the components of the District's deferred outflows and deferred inflows for the 
current year: 

 

Defened Outflows Deferred Inflows 
Difference between actual and expected experience 

 

- 
Net difference between expected and actual eaniings 

  

Impact due to changes in assuinptions 

 

18,652 
Total $ $ 18,652  

Amortization of impact due to changes in asswnptions is over 10 years or $1,865 per year. 
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WATERWORKS DISTRICT NO. 7 OF WARDS 6 AND 4 
CALCASIEU PARISH, LOUISIANA, A COMPONENT UNIT OF 

THE CALCASIEU PARISH POLICE JURY 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2024 AND 2023 

Note 9 — Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) (Continued) 

Changes in the Total OPEB Liability: The following table shows the components of the District's total 
OPEB liability for the current year: 

Net OPEB Obligation at September 30, 2023 $ 62,487 
Current Period Changes: 

 

Service Cost 1,634 
Interest on Total OPEB Liability 2,394 
Changes in Assumptions 3,535 
Benefit Payrnents ( 1,5671 

  

Net Change in Total OPEB Liability 5,996 

  

Net OPEB Obligation at September 30, 2024 $ 68,483 
District's Proportionate Percentage of Total Parish OPEB Obligation 0.17% 

Note 10 — Board of Commissioner's Fees 

Members of the Board of Comrnissioners are paid a per diem allowance for attending board meetings. 
The total expenses for tneetings attended during the year are as follows: 

 

2024 2023 
Donna Gayle $ 1,100 $ 1,200 
James Gentry 1,200 800 
Ivan J. Tarou 1,200 1,200 
Ted B. Chapman 1,200 1,000 
Brock Peterson 1,300 1,200 

Total 6,000 $ 5,400 

Note 11 — Deferred Tax Payable 

During the 2005 and 2004 tax years, the District assessed millage in excess of the required amounts to 
repay general obligation bonds. This excess amount has not been recognized as income and is therefore 
deferred until the amounts are either refunded or offset against future tax assessments. 

34 



WATERWORKS DISTRICT NO. 7 OF WARDS 6 AND 4 
CALCASIEU PARISH, LOUISIANA, A COMPONENT UNIT OF 

THE CALCASIEU PARISH POLICE JURY 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2024 AND 2023 

Note 12 — Construction in Progress 

The District has various construction projects in progress at September 30, 2024. The following is a 
schedule of the most significant projects. 

 

Estimated 
Total Cost 

Cost Incurred 
to Date 

Estimated 
Completion Date 

Edgerly Road Water Line Project $1,481,500 $1,178,916 November 2024 

Booster Station Flow Meters Project $ 640,839 $ 31,854 July 2025 

Water Plant Generator Project $ 223,635 $ 13,541 October 2025 

Note 13 - Subsequent Events 

The District evaluated its September 30, 2024 financial statements for subsequent events through the date 
the financial statements were available to be issued. The District is not aware of any subsequent events 
which would require recognition or disclosure in the financial statements. 
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Waterworks District No. 7 of Wards 6 and 4 
Calcasieu Parish, Louisiana, a Component Unit of 

the Calcasieu Parish Police Jury 
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2024 

Federal Grantor/Pass-though Assistance Listing Federal 
Grantor/Program Title Number Expenditures 

U. S. Department of the Treasury 

Passed through tlie Calcasieu Parish Police Jury 

Coronavinis State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds 21.027* $ 1,110,820 

Total Expenditures of Federal Awards S 1,110,820 

* Major Program 

See accoinpanying notes to schedule of expenditures of federal awards. 36 



WATERWORKS DISTRICT NO. 7 OF WARDS 6 AND 4 
CALCASIEU PARISH, LOUISIANA, A COMPONENT UNIT OF 

THE CALCASIEU PARISH POLICE JURY 
NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2024 

Note 1 — Basis of Presentation 

The accornpanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the Schedule) includes the federal award 
activity of Waterworks District No. 7 of Wards 6 and 4, Calcasieu Parish, Louisiana (the District) under 
programs of the federal government for the year ended September 30, 2024. The infomiation in this 
schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 
200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and audit Requirements for Federal Awards 
(Uniform Guidance). Because the Schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of the District, 
it is not intended to and does not present the financial position, changes in net position, or cash flows of the 
District. 

Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Such expenditures 
are recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform Guidance, wherein certain types of 
expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement. 

Note 3 — Indirect Cost Rate 

The Authority has elected not to use the 10 percent de minimis indirect cost rate as allowed under the 
Unifonn Guidance. 
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WATERWORKS DISTRICT NO. 7 OF WARDS 6 AND 4 
OF CALCASIEU PARISH, LOUISIANA 

DeQuincy, Louisiana 

Schedule of Conipensation, Benefits and Other 
Payments to the President of the Board of Commissioners 

Year Ended September 30, 2024 

Agency Head: Ivan J. Tarou, Board President 

Purpose Amount 
Commissioner Fees $ 1,200.00 
Benefits-insurance 0.00 
Benefits-retirement 0.00 
Benefits-Other 0.00 
Car allowance 0.00 
Vehicle provided by government 0.00 
Reimbursements 0.00 
Travel 0.00 
Registration fees 0.00 
Conference travel 0.00 
Continuing_professional education fees 0.00 
Housing 0.00 
Unvouchered expenses 0.00 
Special meals 0.00 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL 
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER 

MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED 
IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERAMENT A UDITING STANDARDS 

Board of Commissioners 
Waterworks District No. 7 of Wards 6 and 4 
Calcasieu Parish, Louisiana 

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of Waterworks District 
No. 7 of Wards 6 and 4, Calcasieu Parish, Louisiana as of and for the year ended September 30, 2024, and 
the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise Waterworks District No. 7 of 
Wards 6 and 4, Calcasieu Parish, Louisiana's basic financial statements, and have issued our report 
thereon dated March 21, 2025. 

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered Waterworks District No. 7 
of Wards 6 and 4, Calcasieu Parish, Louisiana's internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as 
a basis for designirw audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of 
expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of Waterworks District No. 7 of Wards 6 and 4, Calcasieu Parish, Louisiana's internal control. 
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of Waterworks District No. 7 of Wards 6 
and 4, Calcasieu Parish, Louisiana's internal control. 

A dcficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow rnanagement 
or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 
nnsstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstaternent of the entity's 
financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant 
deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in intenial control that is less severe than a 
material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
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Board of Commissioners 
Waterworks District 7 of Wards 6 and 4 
Calcasieu Parish, Louisiana 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, rnaterial weaknesses or significant deficiencies may 
exist that were not identified. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. We did identify a certain 
deficiency in internal control, described in the accompanyirw Schedule of Findings and Responses Item 
2024-001 that we consider to be a significant deficiency. 

Report on Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Waterworks District No. 7 of Wards 6 and 4, 
Calcasieu Parish, Louisiana's financial statements are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of 
its cornpliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncornpliance 
with which could have a direct and material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an 
opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not 
express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters 
that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 

District's Response to Finding 

Government Auditing Standards requires the auditor to perform limited procedures on the District's 
response to the finding identified in our audit and described in the accompanying Schedule of Findings and 
Responses. The District's response was not subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 
financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on the response. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, 
this communication is not suitable for any other pui-pose. Under Louisiana Revised Statute 24:513, this 
report is distributed by the Legislative Auditor as a public document. 

SteveK, M. DeRottevL Associsttes, L.La 

Lake Charles, Louisiana 
March 21, 2025 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH 
MAJOR PROGRAM AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 
COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE 

Board of Commissioners 
Waterworks District No. 7 of Wards 6 and 4 
Calcasieu Parish, Louisiana 

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 

We have audited Waterworks District No. 7 of Wards 6 and 4, Calcasieu Parish, Louisiana's compliance 
with the types of compliance requirements identified as subject to audit in the OMB Compliance Supplement 
that could have a direct and material effect on each of Waterworks District No. 7 of Wards 6 and 4, 
Calcasieu Parish, Louisiana's major federal programs for the year ended September 30, 2024. Waterworks 
District No. 7 of Wards 6 and 4, Calcasieu Parish, Louisiana's major federal programs are identified in the 
summary of auditor's results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. 

In our opinion, Waterworks District No. 7 of Wards 6 and 4, Calcasieu Parish, Louisiana complied, in all 
material respects, with the types of cornpliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and 
material effect on each of its major federal programs for the year ended September 30, 2024. 

Basis Pr Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of Arnerica; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 
U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Pari 200, Uniform Adminisirative Requirements, Cost Principles, and 
Audii Requiremems for Federal Awards (Uniforrn Guidance). Our responsibilities under those standards 
and the Uniform Guidance are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of 
Cornpliance section of our report. 

We are required to be independent of Waterworks District No. 7 of Wards 6 and 4, Calcasieu Parish, 
Louisiana and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with relevant ethical requirements 
relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for each major federal program. Our audit does not provide a 
legal determination of Waterworks District No. 7 of Wards 6 and 4, Calcasieu Parish, Louisiana cornpliance 
with the compliance requirements referred to above. 

41 



Board of Commissioners 
Waterworks District No. 7 of Wards 6 and 4 
Calcasieu Parish, Louisiana 

Responsibilities of Management fir Compliance 

Managernent is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of 
laws, statutes, regulations, rules, and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to Waterworks 
District No. 7 of Wards 6 and 4, Calcasieu Parish, Louisiana's federal programs. 

Auditor Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the 
cornpliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion 
on Watenvorks District No. 7 of Wards 6 and 4, Calcasieu Parish, Louisiana's compliance based on our 
audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, Government 
Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect material noncompliance when it exists. 
The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for that resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is considered material 
if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment 
made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance about Waterworks District No. 7 of Wards 6 and 4, 
Calcasieu Parish, Louisiana's compliance with the requirements of each major federal program as a whole. 

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, Government Auditing 
Standards, and the Uniform Guidance, we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

• Identify and assess the risks of material noncornpliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a 
test basis, evidence regarding Watenvorks District No. 7 of Wards 6 and 4, Calcasieu Parish, 
Louisiana's compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above and performing such 
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. 

• Obtain an understanding of Waterworks District No. 7 of Wards 6 and 4, Calcasieu Parish, 
Louisiana's internal control over compliance relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report on internal control over 
compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of Watenvorks District No. 7 of Wards 6 and 4, Calcasieu Parish, 
Louisiana's internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
plaiuied scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal 
control over cornpliance that we identified durirw the audit. 
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Board of Commissioners 
Waterworks District No. 7 of Wards 6 and 4 
Calcasieu Parish, Louisiana 

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
cornpliance does not allow managernent or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a 
federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, 
or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not 
be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over 
compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type 
of compliance requirernent of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal 
control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the Auditor's 
Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all deficiencies 
in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal 
control over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in 
internal control over coinpliance that we consider to be inaterial weaknesses, as defined above. However, 
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance may exist that were not 
identified. 

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control 
over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing 
of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirernents of the Uniform 
Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. However, this report is a matter of 
public record and its distribution is not limited. 

SteveK, M. DeRzAtiA, Assoacites, LLa 

Lake Charles, Louisiana 
March -)1, -)025 
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WATERWORKS DISTRICT NO. 7 OF WARDS 6 & 4 

OF CALCASIEU PARISH, LOUISIANA 
DeQuincy, Louisiana 

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 
September 30, 2024 

Section I — Summary of Auditors' Results 

Financial Statements  
Type of auditor's report issued 
Internal control over financial reporting: 

Material weakness identified? Yes 
Significant deficiency identified considered 

to be material weakness? X  Yes 
Noncompliance material to financial statements 

noted? Yes 

Unmodified 

X No 

No 

X No 

Federal Awards 
Internal control over major programs: 

Material weaknesses identified?   Yes X  No 
Significant deficiency identified not 

considered to be material weaknesses?   Yes X  None reported 
Type of auditor's report issued on compliance 

for major programs: 
Any audit findings disclosed that are required 

to be reported in accordance with the 
Uniform Guidance? Yes X No 

Unmodified 

Identification of major programs: 
Assistance 

Listing Number Name of Federal Program or Cluster 
21.027 Passed through the Calcasieu Parish Police Jury 

U.S. Department of Treasury 
Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds 

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between 
Type A and Type B programs: 

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? 

5750,000 

Yes X No      

A separate management letter was not issued. 
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WATERWORKS DISTRICT NO. 7 OF WARDS 6 & 4 

OF CALCASIEU PARISH, LOUISIANA 
DeQuincy, Louisiana 

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 
September 30, 2024 

Section II — Financial Statement Findings 

2024-001 Segregation of Duties — 

Condition: A proper segregation of duties is not possible due to the small number of people 
involved in the District's day-to-day operations. 

Criteria: Effective internal control requires adequate segregation of duties among client personnel. 

Effect: Without proper segregation of duties, errors within the financial records could go 
undetected. 

Recomrnendation: To the extent cost effective, commissioners should attempt to rnitigate this 
weakness by supervision and review procedures. 

Response: Management has considered this deficiency and determined that it would not be cost 
effective at this time to employ or contract the appropriate personnel to adequately 
segregate duties. Commissioners have irnplemented supervision and review procedures to 
the extent possible. This a repeat finding. 

Summary of Prior Year Findings: 

2023-001 Segregation of Duties — 

A proper segregation of duties is not feasible due to the small number of people involved in the 
District's day-to-day operations. 

Section III — Federal Awards Findings and Questioned Costs 

The results of our tests disclosed no instances of non-compliance with the requirements 
applicable to each major federal prograrn that are required to be reported in accordance with the 
Uniform Guidance. 

45 



WATERWORKS DISTRICT NO. 7 OF WARDS 6 &4 

OF CALCASIEU PARISH, LOUISIANA 

DeQuincy, Louisiana 
Parochial Employees' Retirement System of Louisiana 

Schedule of the District's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2024 

Fiscal Year 

District's Proportion 
of the Net Pension 

Liability 

District's 
Proportionate Share 
of the Net Pension 
Liability (Asset) 

District's Covered 
Employee Payroll 

Distnct's 
Proportionate Share 
of the Net Pension 

Liability (Asset) as a 
% of its Covered 
Employee Payroll 

Plan Fiduciary Net 
Position as a % of the 

Total Pension 
Liability 

2024 0.044% $ 42,027 

 

316,967 13.26`,!'i) 98.03% 

101,, 0.044% $ 167,530 

 

310,006 54.04°'i) 91.74% 

2022 0.043% M (202,478) $ 288,589 -70.16% 110.46% 

2021 0.044% M (77,957) $ 293,795 -26.53% 104.00% 

2020 0.045% $ 2,112 $ 272,8()6 0.77% 99.89% 

2019 0.044% $ 194,480 $ 271,726 71.57% 88.86% 

2018 0.041% $ (30,443) $ 269,869 -11.28% 101.98% 

2017 0.039% $ 80,426 

 

/52,000 31.92% 94.15% 

2016 0.038% $ 98,716 

 

220,765 44.72% 92.23% 

The schedule is intended to report information for 10 years. Additional years will be displayed 

as they become available. The amounts presented have a measurement date of the previous 

fiscal year. 

The notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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WATERWORKS DISTRICT NO. 7 OF WARDS 6 &4 

OF CALCASIEU PARISH, LOUISIANA 

DeQuincy, Louisiana 
Parochial Eniployees' Retirement System of Louisiana 

Schedule of the District's Contributions 

For the Year Ended Septeniber 30, 2024 

Fiscal Year 

Contractually 
Required 

Contribution 

Contributions in 
Relation to 

Contractually 
Required 

Contributions 
Contribution 

Deficiency (Excess) 
District's Covered 
Employee Payroll 

Contributions as a 
Percentage of 

Covered Employee 
Payroll 

2024 S 36,497 ' 36,497 $ - $ 316,967 11.5% 

2023 $ 35,769 $ 35,769 $ - $ 310,006 11.5% 

2022 33,843 33,843 - $ 288,589 11.7% 

2021 35,315 35,315 - $ 293,798 17.0% 

2020 34,289 34,289 - $ 272,806 12.6% 

2019 31,333 31,333 - $ 271,726 11.5% 

2018 22,097 22,097 - $ 269,869 8.2% 

2017 33,266 33,266 - $ 252M00 13.2% 

2016 34,946 34,946 

 

$ 220,765 15.8% 

The schedule is intended to report information for 10 years. Additional years will be displayed 

as they become available. The amounts presented have a measurement date of the previous 

fiscal year. 

The notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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WATERWORKS DISTRICT NO. 7 OF WARDS 6 AND 4 
OF CALCASIEU PARISH, LOUISIANA 

DeQuincy, Louisiana 
Other Postemployment Benefits - 

Schedule of Changes in Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2024 

 

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 
Total OPEB Liability 

      

Service Cost $ 2,394 $ 2,866 $ 1,833 $ 1,892 $ 1,522 $ 1,634 
Interest on Total OPEB Liability 2,531 2,556 1,868 1,647 3,425 2,394 
Changes in benefit terms - - - - - - 
Differences between expected and actual 

 

- 

 

- - - 
Changes in assumptions or other inputs - 19,275 (14,689) (591) (23,622) 3,535 
Benefit payments (1,035) (1,023) (1,173) (1,154) (1,531) (1,567) 

Net Change in Total OPEB Liability 3,890 23,674 (12,161) 1,794 (20,206) 5,996 

Total OPEB Liability - Beginning 65,496 69,386 93,060 80,899 82,693 62,487 

Total OPEB Liability - Ending 69,386 93,060 $ 80,899 82,693 $ 62,487 68,483 

Covered Employee Payroll $ 260,000 $ 272,642 $ 251,759 $ 233,584 $ 287,955 $ 319,701 

Total OPEB liability as a percentage 
of covered employee payroll 26.69% 34.13% 32.13% 35.40% 21.70% 21.42% 

Notes to Schedule: 
Changes in Benefit Terms None 
Changes in Assumptions Changes of assumptions and other inputs reflect the effects of 

changes in the discount rate each period. The following are the 
discount rates used each period: 

2019 3.90% 
2020 2.90% 
2021 2.02% 
2022 2.05% 
2023 4.18% 
2024 3.88% 

This schedule is intended to report information for 10 years. Data for the full ten year period is not 
available but will be reported as the additional years become available. 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 48 



S I EVE M DEROI ASSOCIATES LLC 

Certified Public! Aceountcuits 
2720 RUE. DL JARDIN. SUITE. 300 

P. O. BOX 4265 

LAKE CHARLES. LA 70606 

1337) 513-4915 OFFICE/ 1337) 205-6927 FAX 
Atr.veRsderouencpa.coin 

Member American Institute of Member Louisiana Society ot 

Ccrnfird Public Accotuu-ants Crrnficd Public Accountants 

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANT'S REPORT  
ON APPLYING AGREED-UPON PROCEDURES 

To the Board of Cominissioners of Waterworks District 7 of Wards 6 and 4 of Calcasieu Parish 
and the Louisiana Legislative Auditor: 

We have performed the procedures enumerated below on the control and cornpliance (C/C) areas 
identified in the Louisiana Legislative Auditor's (LLA's) Statewide Agreed-Upon Procedures 
(SAUPs) for the fiscal period October 1, 2023 through September 30, 2024. Waterworks District 
7 of Wards 6 and 4 of Calcasieu Parish's management is responsible for those C/C areas identified 
in the SAUPs. 

Waterworks District 7 of Wards 6 and 4 of Calcasieu Parish has agreed to and acknowledged that 
the procedures performed are appropriate to rneet the intended purpose of the engagement, which 
is to perforrn specified procedures on the C/C areas identified in LLA's SAUPs for the fiscal period 
October 1, 2023 through Septernber 30, 2024. Additionally, LLA has agreed to and acknowledged 
that the procedures performed are appropriate for its purposes. This report may not be suitable for 
any other purpose. The procedures performed may not address all the items of interest to a user 
of this report and rnay not rneet the needs of all users of this report and, as such, users are 
responsible for determining whether the procedures performed are appropriate for their purposes. 

The procedures and associated findings are as follows: 

1) Written Policies and Procedures 

A. Obtain and inspect the entity's written policies and procedures and observe whether they 
address each of the followinv, categories and subcategories if applicable to public funds 
and the entity's operations: 

i. Budgeting, including preparing, adopting, rnonitoring, and arnending the budget. 

ii. Purchasing, including (1) how purchases are initiated; (2) how vendors are added 
to the vendor list; (3) the preparation and approval process of purchase requisitions 
and purchase orders; (4) controls to ensure compliance with the Public Bid Law; 
and (5) docurnentation required to be maintained for all bids and price quotes. 
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iii. Disbursements, including processing, reviewing, and approving. 

iv. Receipts/Collections, including receiving, recording, and preparing deposits. Also, 
policies and procedures should include managernent's actions to deterrnine the 
cornpleteness of all collections for each type of revenue or agency fund additions 
(e.g., periodic confirrnation with outside parties, reconciliation to utility billing 
after cutoff procedures, reconciliation of traffic ticket nurnber sequences, agency 
fund forfeiture rnonies confirmation). 

v. PayrolUPersonnel, including (1) payroll processing, (2) reviewing and approving 
tirne and attendance records, including leave and overtime worked, and (3) approval 
process for employee rates of pay or approval and rnaintenance of pay rate 
schedules. 

vi. Contracting, including (1) types of services requiring written contracts, (2) 
standard terms and conditions, (3) legal review, (4) approval process, and (5) 
monitoring process. 

vii. Travel and Expense Reimbursement, including (1) allowable expenses, (2) dollar 
thresholds by categoiy of expense, (3) documentation requirements, and (4) 
required approvers. 

viii. Credit Cards (and dehit cards, fuel cards, purchase cards, if applicable), including 
(1) how cards are to be controlled, (2) allowable business uses, (3) documentation 
requirements, (4) required approvers of statements, and (5) rnonitoring card usage 
(e.g., determining the reasonableness of fuel card purchases). 

ix. Ethics, including (1) the prohibitions as defined in Louisiana Revised Statute (R.S.) 
42:1111-1121, (2) actions to be taken if an ethics violation takes place, (3) system 
to rnonitor possible ethics violations, and (4) a requirement that docurnentation is 
rnaintained to demonstrate that all employees and officials were notified of any 
changes to the entity's ethics policy. 

x. Debt Service, including (1) debt issuance approval, (2) continu ing 
disclosure/EMMA reporting requirernents, (3) debt reserve requirements, and (4) 
debt service requirements. 

xi. Information Technology Disaster Recovery/Business Continuity, including (1) 
identification of critical data and frequency of data backups, (2) storage of backups 
in a separate physical location isolated frorn the network, (3) periodic 
testing/verification that backups can be restored, (4) use of antivirus software on all 
systerns, (5) timely application of all available systern and software 
patches/updates, and (6) identification of personnel, processes, and tools needed to 
recover operations after a critical event. 

xii. Prevention of Sexual Harassnient, including R.S. 42:342-344 requirements for (1) 
agency responsibilities and prohibitions, (2) annual employee training, and (3) 
annual reporting. 

The District has no written policies or procedures lbr the items listed above. 
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2) Board or Finance Committee 

A. Obtain and inspect the board/finance committee minutes for the fiscal period, as well as 
the board's enabling legislation, charter, bylaws, or equivalent document in effect during 
the fiscal period, and: 

i. Observe that the board/finance committee rnet with a quomm at least monthly, or 
on a frequency in accordance with the board's enabling legislation, charter, bylaws, 
or other equivalent document. 

ii. For those entities reporting on the governrnental accounting rnodel, observe 
whether the minutes referenced or included rnonthly budget-to-actual comparisons 
on the general fund, quarterly budget-to-actual, at a minimum, on proprietaly funds, 
and semi-annual budget- to-actual, at a rninirnurn, on all special revenue funds. 
Allernaie1v, fbr those entities reporting on the nonprofit accouniing model, observe 
that the minutes reli2renced or included financial activity relating to public fluids if 
those public fimds comprised more than 10% qf the entity's collections during the 
fiscal period. 

iii. For governmental entities, obtain the prior year audit report and observe the 
unassigned fund balance in the general fund. If the general fund had a negative 
ending unassigned fund balance in the prior year audit report, observe that the 
minutes for at least one rneeting during the fiscal period referenced or included a 
formal plan to eliminate the negative unassigned fund balance in the general fund. 

iv. Observe whether the board/finance cornrnittee received written updates of the 
progress of resolving audit finding(s), according to management's corrective action 
plan at each meeting until the findings are considered fully resolved. 

Exceplion #2A(ii) No quarterly budgei-to-actual comparisons were included or referenced in the 
minutes. Annual budgets are adopted. 

Exception #2A(iy): The Board qf Directors does not consider it cost elfrctive to hire employees 
required to resolve audit findings. 

3) Bank Reconciliations 

A. Obtain a listing of entity bank accounts for the fiscal period frorn management and 
rnanagernent's representation that the listing is cornplete. Ask rnanagernent to identify the 
entity's main operating account. Select the entity's main operating, account and randomly 
select 4 additional accounts (or all accounts if less than 5). Randomly select one month 
frorn the fiscal period, obtain and inspect the corresponding bank staternent and 
reconciliation for each selected account, and observe that: 

i. Bank reconciliations include evidence that they were prepared within 2 inonths of 
the related staternent closing date (e.g., initialed and dated or electronically logged); 
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ii. Bank reconciliations include written evidence that a member of management or a 
board member who does not handle cash, post ledgers, or issue checks has reviewed 
each bank reconciliation within 1 rnonth of the date the reconciliation was prepared 
(e.g., initialed and dated or electronically logged); and 

iii. Managernent has docurnentation reflecting it has researched reconciling items that 
have been outstanding for more than 12 months from the statement closing date, if 
applicable. 

No exceptions were Ibund through the performance of these procedures. 

4) Collections (excluding electronic funds transfers) 

A. Obtain a listing of deposit sites for the fiscal period where deposits for cash/checks/rnoney 
orders (cash) are prepared and rnanagernent's representation that the listing is complete. 
Randornly select 5 deposit sites (or all deposit sites if less than 5). 

B. For each deposit site selected, obtain a listing of collection locations and management's 
representation that the listing is complete. Randornly select one collection location for 
each deposit site (e.g., 5 collection locations for 5 deposit sites), obtain and inspect written 
policies and procedures relating to employee job duties (if there are no written policies or 
procedures, then inquire of ernployees about their job duties) at each collection location, 
and observe that job duties are properly segregated at each collection location such that: 

i. Ernployees responsible for cash collections do not share cash drawers/registers; 

ii. Each ernployee responsible for collecting, cash is not responsible for 
preparing/rnaking bank deposits, unless another ernployee/official is responsible 
for reconciling collection documentation (e.g., pre-nurnbered receipts) to the 
deposit; 

iii. Each ernployee responsible for collecting cash is not also responsible for posting 
collection entries to the general ledger or subsidiary ledgers, unless another 
ernployee/official is responsible for reconciling ledger postings to each other and 
to the deposit; and 

iv. The employee(s) responsible for reconciling cash collections to the general ledger 
and/or subsidiaiy ledgers, by revenue source and/or agency fund additions, is (are) 
not also responsible for collecting cash, unless another ernployee/official verifies 
the reconciliation. 

C. Obtain from management a copy of the bond or insurance policy for theft covering all 
ernployees who have access to cash. Observe that the bond or insurance policy for theft 
was in force during the fiscal period. 

D. Randornly select two deposit dates for each of the 5 bank accounts selected for Bank 
Reconciliations procedure #3A (select the next deposit date chronologically if no deposits 
were rnade on the dates randornly selected and randornly select a deposit if rnultiple 
deposits are made on the sarne day). Alternately, the practitioner mav use a source 
document other than bank statements when selecting the deposit dates fbr testing, such as 
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a cash collection log, dailv revenue report, receipt book, etc. Obtain supporting 
documentation for each of the 10 deposits and: 

i. Observe that receipts are sequentially pre-numbered. 

ii. Trace sequentially pre-numbered receipts, systern reports, and other related 
collection documentation to the deposit slip. 

iii. Trace the deposit slip total to the actual deposit per the bank statement. 

iv. Observe that the deposit was made within one business day of receipt at the 
collection location (within one week if the depository is more than 10 rniles from 
the collection location or the deposit is less than $100 and the cash is stored securely 
in a locked safe or drawer). 

v. Trace the actual deposit per the bank statement to the general ledger. 

Exception #4B(ii): Employee responsible fbr collecting cash is responsible fbr preparing/making 
balik deposits 

Exception #4B(iii): Employee responsible fbr collecting cash is responsible for posting collection 
entries to the general ledger. 

Exception #4fi(iv): The employee responsible for reconciling cash collections to the general ledger 

is also responsible fbr collecting cash. 

5) Non-Payroll Disbursements (excluding card purchases, travel reimbursements, and peg 
cash purchases) 

A. Obtain a listing of locations that process payrnents for the fiscal period and management's 
representation that the listing is cornplete. Randornly select 5 locations (or all locations if 
less than 5). 

B. For each location selected under procedure #5A above, obtain a listing of those employees 
involved with non-payroll purchasing and payrnent functions. Obtain written policies and 
procedures relating to ernployee job duties (if the agency has no written policies and 
procedures, then inquire of employees about their job duties), and observe that job duties 
are properly segregated such that: 

i. At least two ernployees are involved in initiating a purchase request, approving a 
purchase, and placing an order or making the purchase; 

ii. At least two ernployees are involved in processing and approving payrnents to 
vendors; 

iii. The employee responsible for processing payrnents is prohibited frorn 
adding/rnodifying vendor files, unless another employee is responsible for 
periodically reviewing changes to vendor files; 

iv. Either the employee/official responsible for signing checks rnails the payment or 
gives the signed checks to an ernployee to mail who is not responsible for 
processing payments; and 
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v. Only ernployees/officials authorized to sign checks approve the electronic 
disbursernent (release) of funds, whether through autornated clearinghouse (ACH), 
electronic funds transfer (EFT), wire transfer, or sorne other electronic means. 

[Note: Findings related to controls that constrain the legal authority of certain public 
officials (e.g., mayor of a Lawrason Act municipality) should not be reported.] 

C For each location selected under procedure #5A above, obtain the entity's non-payroll 
disbursernent transaction population (excluding cards and travel reimbursements) and 
obtain managernent's representation that the population is complete. Randornly select 5 
disbursements for each location, obtain supporting documentation for each transaction, 
and: 

i. Observe whether the disbursement, whether by paper or electronic means, matched 
the related original itemized invoice and supporting documentation indicates that 
deliverables included on the invoice were received by the entity; and 

ii. Observe whether the disbursernent docurnentation included evidence (e.g., 
initial/date, electronic logging) of segregation of duties tested under procedure #5B 
above, as applicable. 

D. Using the entity's rnain operating account and the rnonth selected in Bank Reconciliations 
procedure #3A, randornly select 5 non-payroll-related electronic disbursernents (or all 
electronic disbursements if less than 5) and observe that each electronic disbursernent was 
(a) approved by only those persons authorized to disburse funds (e.g., sign checks) per the 
entity's policy, and (b) approved by the required number of authorized signers per the 
entity's policy. Note: If no electronic payrnents were rnade frorn the rnain operating 
account during the month selected the practitioner should select an alternative rnonth 
and/or account for testing that does include electronic disbursernents. 

Exception 145BW: Noied purchases under $500 do not require a second pre-purchase approval. 

Exception 145B(iii): Noted emplQvee revonsible for processing payments is allowed to add and/or 

modifY vendor files. No other employee reviews vendor files. 

Exception #5B(iv): Noted employee who is responsible lbr processing payments also mails the 

processed payments. 

Exception #5C(ii): Hiring qfpersonnel requiredfbr proper segregation ofduties is not considered 
cost effective, therefbr no evidence of segregation olduties was noted. 

6) Credit Cards/Debit Cards/Fuel Cards/Purchase Cards (Cards) 

A. Obtain frorn management a listing of all active credit cards, bank debit cards, fuel cards, 
and purchase cards (cards) for the fiscal period, including the card nurnbers and the narnes 
of the persons who maintained possession of the cards. Obtain managernent's 
representation that the listing is cornplete. 
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B. Using the listing prepared by management, randomly select 5 cards (or all cards if less than 
5) that were used during the fiscal period. Randomly select one monthly statement or 
combined statement for each card (for a debit card, randomly select one monthly bank 
statement), obtain supporting documentation, and 

i. Observe whether there is evidence that the monthly statement or combined 
statement and supporting documentation (e.g., original receipts for credit/debit card 
purchases, exception reports for excessive fuel card usage) were reviewed and 
approved, in writing (or electronically approved), by someone other than the 
authorized card holder (those instances requiring such approval that may constrain 
the legal authority of certain public officials, such as the mayor of a Lawrason Act 
municipality, should not be reported); and 

ii. Observe that finance charges and late fees were not assessed on the selected 
statements. 

C. Using the monthly statements or combined statements selected under procedure #6B 
above, excluding fuel cards, randomly select 10 transactions (or all transactions if less than 
10) from each statement, and obtain supporting documentation for the transactions (e.g., 
each card should have 10 transactions subject to inspection)1. For each transaction, observe 
that it is supported by (1) an original itemized receipt that identifies precisely what was 
purchased, (2) written documentation of the business/public purpose, and (3) 
documentation of the individuals participating in meals (for meal charges only). For 
missing receipts, the practitioner should describe the nature of the transaction and observe 
whether management had a compensating control to address missing receipts, such as a 
"missing receipt statement" that is subject to increased scrutiny. 

No exceptions were found through the performance of these procedures. 

7) Travel and Travel-Related Expense Reimbursements (excluding card transactions)  

A. Obtain from management a listing of all travel and travel-related expense reimbursements 
during the fiscal period and management's representation that the listing or general ledger 
is complete. Randomly select 5 reimbursement and obtain the related expense 
reimbursement forms/prepaid expense documentation of each selected reimbursement, as 
well as the supporting documentation. For each of the 5 reimbursements selected: 

i. If reimbursed using a per diem, observe that the approved reimbursement rate is no 
more than those rates established either by the State of Louisiana or the U.S. 
General Services Administration (www.gsa.gov); 

ii. If reimbursed using actual costs, observe that the reimbursement is supported by an 
original itemized receipt that identifies precisely what was purchased; 

iii. Observe that each reimbursement is supported by documentation of the 
business/public purpose (for meal charges, observe that the documentation includes 
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the names of those individuals participating) and other documentation required by 
Written Policies and Procedures procedure #1A(vii); and 

iv. Observe each reirnbursement was reviewed and approved, in writing, by sorneone 
other than the person receiving reirnbursernent. 

No exceptions were finind through the perfbrmance of these procedures. 

8) Contracts 

A. Obtain frorn rnanagernent a listing of all agreements/contracts for professional services, 
materials and supplies, leases, and construction activities that were initiated or renewed 
during the fiscal period. Alternately, the practitioner may use an equivalent selection 
source, such as an active vendor list. Obtain rnanagernent's representation that the listing 
is complete. Randornly select 5 contracts (or all contracts if less than 5) frorn the listing, 
excluding the practitioner's contract, and: 

i. Observe whether the contract was bid in accordance with the Louisiana Public Bid 
Law (e.g., solicited quotes or bids, advertised), if required by law; 

ii. Observe whether the contract was approved by the governing body/board, if 
required by policy or law (e.g., Lawrason Act, Home Rule Charter); 

iii. If the contract was arnended (e.g., change order), observe that the original contract 
terrns provided for such an arnendrnent and that amendments were rnade in 
cornpliance with the contract terrns (e.g., if approval is required for any arnendrnent, 
the document approval); and 

iv. Randornly select one payrnent frorn the fiscal period for each of the 5 contracts, 
obtain the supporting invoice, agree the invoice to the contract terms, and observe 
the invoice and related payment agreed to the terms and conditions of the contract. 

No exceptions were finind through the perfbrmance of these procedures. 

9) Payroll and Personnel 

A. Obtain a listing of ernployees and officials employed during the fiscal period and 
management's representation that the listing is complete. Randomly select 5 employees or 
officials, obtain related paid salaries and personnel files, and agree paid salaries to 
authorized salaries/pay rates in the personnel files. 

B. Randomly select one pay period during the fiscal period. For the 5 ernployees or officials 
selected under #9A above, obtain attendance records and leave documentation for the pay 
period, and 

i. Observe that all selected employees or officials documented their daily attendance 
and leave (e.g., vacation, sick, compensatory); 

ii. Observe whether supervisors approved the attendance and leave of the selected 
employees or officials; 
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iii. Observe that any leave accrued or taken during the pay period is reflected in the 
entity's cumulative leave records; and 

iv. Observe the rate paid to the employees or officials agree to the authorized 
salary/pay rate found within the personnel file. 

C. Obtain a listing of those employees or officials that received termination payrnents during 
the fiscal period and management's representation that the list is complete. Randomly 
select two employees or officials and obtain related documentation of the hours and pay 
rates used in management's terrnination payment calculations and the entity's policy on 
termination payments. Agree the hours to the ernployee or officials' cumulative leave 
records, agree the pay rates to the ernployee or officials' authorized pay rates in the 
employee or officials' personnel files, and agree the termination payment to entity policy. 

D. Obtain managernent's representation that employer and employee portions of third-party 
payroll related amounts (e.g., payroll taxes, retirernent contributions, health insurance 
premiums, garnishrnents, workers' compensation premiums, etc.) have been paid, and any 
associated forms have been filed, by required deadlines. 

No exceptions were lbund through the performance of these procedures. 

10) Ethics 

A. Using the 5 randornly selected employees/officials from Payroll and Personnel procedure 
#9A obtain ethics documentation from rnanagernent, and 

i. Observe whether the documentation demonstrates each employee/official 
completed one hour of ethics training during the calendar year as required by R.S. 
42:1170; and 

ii. Observe whether the entity rnaintains docurnentation which dernonstrates each 
ernployee and official were notified of any changes to the entity's ethics policy 
during the fiscal period, as applicable. 

B. Inquire and/or observe whether the agency has appointed an ethics designee as required by 
R.S. 42:1170. 

No exceptions were found through the performance of these procedures. 

11) Debt Service 

A. Obtain a listing of bonds/notes and other debt instruments issued during the fiscal period 
and management's representation that the listing is cornplete. Select all debt instruments 
on the listing, obtain supporting documentation, and observe that State Bond Cominission 
approval was obtained for each debt instrument issued as required by Article VII, Section 
8 of the Louisiana Constitution. 

B. Obtain a listing of bonds/notes outstanding at the end of the fiscal period and 
management's representation that the listing is complete. Randomly select one bond/note, 
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inspect debt covenants, obtain supporting docurnentation for the reserve balance and 
payments, and agree actual reserve balances and payments to those required by debt 
covenants (including contingency funds, short-lived asset funds, or other funds required by 
the debt covenants). 

These procedures are not applicable to the entity. The entity did not haye any debt outstanding 
during fiscal year 2024. 

12) Fraud Notice 

A. Obtain a listing of rnisappropriations of public funds and assets during the fiscal period and 
management's representation that the listing is cornplete. Select all misappropriations on 
the listing, obtain supporting docurnentation, and observe that the entity reported the 
rnisappropriation(s) to the legislative auditor and the district attorney of the parish in which 
the entity is dorniciled as required by R.S. 24:523. 

B. Observe the entity has posted, on its premises and website, the notice required by R.S. 
24:523.1 concerning the reporting of rnisappropriation, fraud, waste, or abuse of public 
funds. 

No exceptions were found through the performance of these procedures. 

13) InfOrmation Technology Disaster Recovery/Business Continuity 

A. Perform the following procedures, verbally discuss the results with management, and 
report "We performed the procedure and discussed the results with management." 

i. Obtain and inspect the entity's most recent documentation that it has backed up its 
critical data (if there is no written documentation, then inquire of personnel 
responsible for backing up critical data) and observe evidence that such backup (a) 
occurred within the past week, (b) was not stored on the governrnent's local server 
or network, and (c) was encrypted. 

ii. Obtain and inspect the entity's rnost recent documentation that it has tested/verified 
that its backups can be restored (if there is no written documentation, then inquire 
of personnel responsible for testing/verifying backup restoration) and observe 
evidence that the test/verification was successfully perforrned within the past 3 
months. 

iii. Obtain a listing of the entity's computers currently in use and their related locations, 
and management's representation that the listing is complete. Randornly select 5 
cornputers and observe while management demonstrates that the selected 
cornputers have current and active antivirus software and that the operating systern 
and accounting system software in use are currently supported by the vendor. 

B. Randornly select 5 terminated ernployees (or all terminated employees if less than 5) using 
the list of terminated ernployees obtained in procedure #9C. Observe evidence that the 
selected terminated ernployees have been removed or disabled from the network. 
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C. Using the 5 randomly selected employees/officials from Payroll and Personnel procedure 
#9A, obtain cybersecurity training docurnentation frorn rnanagernent, and observe that the 
docurnentation dernonstrates that the following employees/officials with access to the 
agency's information technology assets have completed cybersecurity training as 
required by R.S. 42:12672. The requirements are as follows: 

1. Hired before June 9, 2020 - cornpleted the training; and 
2. Hired on or after June 9, 2020 - cornpleted the training within 30 days 

of initial service or employment. 

We performed the lqfbrmation Technology Disaster Recoverv/Business Continuity procechtres and 

disczissed the results with management. 

14) Prevention of Sexual Harassment 

A. Using the 5 randomly selected employees/officials from Payroll and Personnel procedure 
#9A, obtain sexual harassment training documentation from rnanagernent, and observe that 
the docurnentation dernonstrates each employee/official completed at least one hour of 
sexual harassinent training during the calendar year as required by R.S. 42:343. 

B. Observe the entity has posted its sexual harassrnent policy and cornplaint procedure on its 
website (or in a conspicuous location on the entity's prernises if the entity does not have a 
website). 

C Obtain the entity's annual sexual harassrnent report for the current fiscal period, observe 
that the report was dated on or before February 1, and observe that the report includes the 
applicable requirements of R.S. 42:344: 

i. Number and percentage of public servants in the agency who have completed the 
training requirements; 

ii. Number of sexual harassment complaints received by the agency; 

iii. Nurnber of complaints which resulted in a finding that sexual harassrnent occurred; 

iv. Number of complaints in which the finding of sexual harassrnent resulted in 
discipline or corrective action; and 

v. Arnount of tirne it took to resolve each cornplaint. 

Exception #14A: No sexzial harassment training noted fbr the employees tested. 

Exception #14B: The entity does not have a sexual harassment policy. The entity does not have a 

website. The required complaint procedure is posted in a conspicuous location in the entity's 
premises. 

Exception #14C(i): The enti 's employees have not completed the annual sexual harassment 

training. 
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Management's Responses 

#1A(i - xii) — The District will begin working on creating written policies and procedures. 

#2A(ii) — The District will begin discussing budget-to-actual comparisons and note in the 
board minutes on at least a quarterly basis. 

#2A(iv) — The Board of Directors does not consider it cost effective to hire employees 
required to resolve the audit finding. 

#4B(ii) — Due to limited office staff District is not able to change this procedure. 

#4B(iii) — Due to limited office staff District is not able to change this procedure. 

#4B(iv) — Due to limited office staff District is not able to change this procedure. 

#5B(i) - District does not consider it necessary to require a second employee to initiate an 
order for purchases under $500. These purchases are reviewed by the Board at each monthly 
meeting. 

#5B(iii) — Due to limited office staff District is not able to change this procedure. 

#5B(iv) — Due to limited office staff District is not able to change this procedure. 

#5C(ii) — Due to limited office staff District is not able to change this procedure. 

#14A, #14C(i) — The District will begin requiring all employees to complete one hour of sexual 
harassment training annually. 

#14B — The District will adopt and post its sexual harassment policy in a conspicuous location 
on the District's premises. 

We were engaged by Waterworks District 7 of Wards 6 and 4 of Calcasieu Parish to perform this 
agreed-upon procedures engagernent and conducted our engagement in accordance with attestation 
standards established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and applicable 
standards of Governmeni Audiiing Siandards. We were not engaged to and did not conduct an 
exarnination or review engagement, the objective of which would be the expression of an opinion 
or conclusion, respectively, on those C/C areas identified in the SAUPs. Accordingly, we do not 
express such an opinion or conclusion. Had we performed additional procedures, other matters 
might have corne to our attention that would have been reported to you. 

We are required to be independent of Waterworks District 7 of Wards 6 and 4 of Calcasieu Parish 
and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirernents 
related to our agreed-upon procedures engagement. 
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This report is intended solely to describe the scope of testing performed on those C/C areas 
identified in the SAUPs, and the result of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on control or 
compliance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. Under Louisiana 
Revised Statute 24:513, this report is distributed by the LLA as a public document. 

StevetA, M. •DelR_oi/LetA, Associ,tes, LLC 

Lake Charles, Louisiana 
March 21, 2025 
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